UPPER LAKE AND WATERFALL 
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In 1839, as part of John Dillwyn Llewelyn’s continuing programme of creating a picturesque landscape at Penllegare, the upper and lower lakes were formed. Only the Upper Lake now survives. The engineer of these projects is not known, but it may have been William Hicks-Beach, a young engineer and friend of Llewelyn.

In order to create a lake a dam was thrown up across the Afon Llan at a point where the valley deepens and narrows.  The upper end of the valley continued to narrow down to a gorge about 30m wide, before opening out to the north at Melin Llan. From the lake the river cascades over the dam by means of an artificial waterfall. This is a masterpiece of nineteenth century engineering and one of the jewels of the Penllergare landscape. It is constructed from massive blocks of masonry held together with iron ties over which the water cascades in three separate falls. A path flanked by boulders leads along the western crest of the dam to a viewing point from which are obtained views over the lake, across the waterfall and downstream to the Old Bridge. The waterfall and lake was a popular photographic subject for John Dillwyn Llewelyn and members of his family. Culverts and sluices lie on the east side of the dam. These are still in working order and were used in the 1990s to drain the lake in order to carry out restoration to the dam and remove silt. The lake originally covered 1.35 hectares, but the massive embankment of the M4 motorway and the A48 now cuts across its upper end. Concrete silt traps have also been built in it immediately south of the embankment. The surviving portion of the lake is heavily silted, despite its partial de-silting of a few years ago. 

Writing in 1886, A Pettigrew  provides with a description of the lake in its Victorian heyday:

Advantage has been taken of the narrowness of the valley here to make a lake by throwing a bank across it and damming the stream. The lake is beautifully situated and its surface along the margin is covered with different kinds of Water lilies, while the steep banks on all sides are wooded down to the water’s edge. In the middle of the bank, at the lowest end of the lake, there is a strong bulwark composed of large blocks of stone, which forms the resisting power to the heavy weight of water at a point where the lake forms a cascade, which leaps boldly over a fall of 18 feet, … Both lakes are well stocked with trout which afford good sport to Mr Llewelyn and his friends from boats during the fishing season.

The Llewelyn family also used the upper lake for picnics and boating as well as fishing. A small boathouse called The Shanty lay on its western side, and at the head of the lake, downstream of a footbridge, a flight of stone-cut steps led down to landing place. All these have disappeared beneath the M4 embankment. 
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